

Children, young people and families' experiences of chronic asthma management and care

Evidence from existing research

James Kenrick & Emma Rigby January 2021



Association for Young People's Health







Contents

Executive summary
Introduction
Purpose of this review
Scope
Methods
Findings
Context: the prevalence and outcomes
of asthma in children and young people
Experiences of NHS asthma care
Social aspects of management and care
The impact of inequality
Conclusion
References





Children, young people and families' experiences of chronic asthma management and care

Young People's Health Partnership

Evidence from existing research

January 2021, James Kenrick and Emma Rigby, Association for Young People's Health

1. Executive summary

In this scoping review we sought to understand children, young people and families' experiences of managing and receiving care for chronic asthma. The review considered the impact of inequality and a range of social factors on effective asthma management; the specific experience of marginalised groups; and how children, young people and families think care and management could be improved.

The results suggested:

- Children and young people's most positive experiences of NHS care are when they obtain easy and quick access to specialist doctors and nurses who understand them, can communicate in terms they understand and can provide coordinated, age-appropriate care.
- Children and young people want more information, advice and support so they can better manage their condition themselves.
- Variations in care are preventing those children and young people who are most in need of services from receiving the high quality care they need, whilst a range of social factors can act as barriers to effective self-management.
- Child- and young person-centred treatment pathways, models of care and selfmanagement approaches should be co-developed with young people and families based on a thorough understanding of their preferences, thinking and behaviour.
- The views of children, young people, parents/carers and clinicians often differ. There has been little participatory research which has focussed specifically on eliciting the views and experiences of children and young people (up to age 25) in isolation from their parents and clinicians.
- There are significant gaps in the evidence. There is a particular need for more research to understand the views and experiences of older adolescents and young adults, and young people from marginalised groups including the experiences of minority ethnic groups.

Association for Young People's Health







2. Introduction

2.1 Purpose of this review

Asthma is the most common long term medical condition experienced by children and young people in the United Kingdom (UK)¹. Yet it remains poorly diagnosed and, too often, poorly controlled, leading to avoidable emergency treatment and deaths.

There is an increasing recognition amongst academics,² health professionals³ and policymakers⁴ that understanding the experiences and views of children, young people and families is likely to be an effective route to improving asthma care and outcomes.

The Young People's Health Partnership is working with the NHS England and NHS Improvement Children and Young People's Transformation Team, Royal College of Paediatrics and Child Health, Association for Young People's Health, Race Equality Foundation and Friends, Families and Travellers to better understand:

- what children, young people and families affected by chronic asthma experience in relation to their care and how they would like it to be improved;
- the experiences of marginalised groups of children, young people and families in relation to asthma management;
- how marginalised groups of children, young people and families feel communication and implementation of better care could be best achieved.

This report sets out the main findings from the first stage of this work, a scoping review of evidence from existing research.

2.2 Scope

The review focussed on recent evidence from the UK of children's, young people's and families' experience of managing and receiving care for chronic asthma.

The primary emphasis was on the experiences of children and young people aged 0-25 years. However, the review also sought to understand the experiences of their parents, carers and wider families. Where possible, we have attempted to identify the specific experience of marginalised groups and to consider the impact of inequality.

Whilst the review was specifically concerned with 'chronic asthma' (see Box 1 for definition), we found that the literature rarely distinguished between types of asthma and used a range of terminology. We took an inclusive approach including all studies as long as they did not explicitly exclude chronic asthma.

The review examined evidence relating to all settings in which NHS asthma 'care' is delivered and adopted a broad interpretation of 'management', covering the important interface between the formal health and care system and how children, young people and families manage their own condition at home, at school and in the community. This reflects the reality that patients with chronic diseases must manage their own health and care on a day-to-day basis. Understanding how patients self-manage chronic asthma, and the social and environmental factors that impact on effective self-management, is particularly important in relation to adolescents and young adults who are moving away from dependence on parents and carers, becoming independent users of healthcare and in some cases transferring out of paediatric care.

Definitions

Children and young people

In this paper, we use the term 'young people' to refer to those aged 10-25, in line with The World Health Organisation's definition,⁵ and the term 'children' when referring to those under the age of ten. The term 'young adult' is used when specifically referring to those aged 18-25.

'Asthma' and 'chronic asthma'

The most widely accepted definition of asthma is: 'a heterogeneous disease, usually characterised by chronic airway inflammation. It is defined by the history of respiratory symptoms such as wheeze, shortness of breath, chest tightness and cough that vary over time and in intensity, together with variable expiratory airflow limitation. Airflow limitation may later become persistent.' (Global Initiative for Asthma, 2020)⁶

There is agreement in various definitions that asthma is typically a chronic, long-term condition.

For this paper the team delivering the project developed the following youth-friendly working definition of 'chronic asthma' which was agreed by the NHS CYP Transformation Team:

'Chronic asthma means that you need to use your preventer inhaler (normally purple, brown or orange) every day and that over the last year you may have had some times when you needed to use your reliever inhaler (normally blue or white) or go to the doctor to control your breathing / asthma.'

Children and young people's descriptions of asthma symptoms

'I cough and I get wheezy....It hurts' (6 year-old) 'I start to get breathless and I can't breathe as well as I always do' (6 year-old) (Source: Searle et al. 2017)

'I can't let the breath out' (13 year-old) 'kinda struggling for air' (14 year-old) 'I don't have it all the time, just every now and then... sometimes, like.' (13 year-old) 'you'd feel it in your chest... a bit of a cough or a scratch coming on here [points to base of throat] so you'd take a quick drag of it [inhaler] and then you'd be off again, right as rain.' (16 year-old) (Source: Monaghan and Gabe 2015)

2.3 Methods

Most published literature about asthma in children and young people focuses on biomedical rather than social factors and there is a lack of recent, published participatory research in this field. Thus, a broadly inclusive approach was taken to the review, encompassing all types of studies and grey literature including policy reports. The focus was on papers from the UK.

Relevant papers were identified through a call for evidence, online searches, a review of relevant aspects of existing data compendiums, and consultations with colleagues working in the field. We are grateful to RCPCH &Us, the Royal College of Paediatrics and Child Health's children and young people's voice programme, who have shared unpublished data from an extensive programme of engagement work conducted with children, young people and parents/carers that has supported paediatric asthma programmes.⁷

The findings from this review will inform a programme of engagement work, including online workshops and one to one interviews, focused specifically on filling gaps in the evidence-base. A final Engagement Report from this review and engagement work has been produced alongside this Scoping Review.

3. Findings

This section of the report sets out the main findings from our scoping review.

We start by providing some contextual information on **the prevalence and outcomes of asthma in children and young people**, including emerging evidence on the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic.

This is followed by findings on children's, young people's and families' **experiences of asthma care in formal healthcare settings**, including GP surgeries, emergency departments and specialist asthma clinics.

We then explore some of the **social aspects of asthma management and care**, including experiences at school and the impact of factors such as stigma, exclusion, knowledge, awareness, perceptions and attitudes on how children and young people view and self-manage their condition.

Finally, we explore **the role that inequality plays** in determining the quality of children and young people's asthma care and review the limited available evidence on the specific experiences of marginalised groups.

Throughout the report, we identify gaps in the evidence base, together with suggestions from the literature – and, particularly, from children, young people and families themselves – for how asthma management and care could be improved.

3.1 Context: the prevalence and outcomes of asthma in children and young people

Around 1.1 million children (one in eleven) currently receive asthma treatment in the UK, making it the most common long term medical condition among this age group.⁸ It is also the most common reason for urgent admissions to hospital in children and young people in England.⁹

The UK performs poorly compared with other European countries in children and young people's outcomes of asthma management. An analysis of data from 19 countries found that the UK had the highest asthma mortality rate among young people aged 10-25 in 2016 out of the 14 European countries included in the comparison.¹⁰ Previous declines in mortality rates amongst young people in the UK have stalled over the last decade,¹¹ and deaths from asthma across all age groups increased by 33% in England and Wales between 2008 and 2018.¹²

Emergency admissions and deaths related to asthma are largely preventable with improved management and early intervention. The National Review of Asthma Deaths (2014) found that there were preventable factors in 90% of childhood deaths, whilst 46% of the children who died had received an inadequate standard of asthma care. Many had inadequate asthma management plans in place or failed to seek or receive medical care early enough when acutely ill.¹³ Furthermore, emergency admissions for asthma are strongly associated with deprivation.¹⁴

Asthma which is not under adequate control can impose a significant psychological burden on children and young people, which, in turn, can exacerbate asthma symptoms.¹⁵ Moreover, both poor asthma outcomes and poor mental health outcomes disproportionately affect adolescents from poorer backgrounds.¹⁶

Asthma also has significant social implications for children, young people and their families, including absences from school and work, restricted activity, and stress.¹⁷ Further, whilst asthma often begins in childhood,¹⁸ it can lead to cumulative lung damage¹⁹ and psychological ill-health in adulthood.²⁰

These adverse consequences are avoidable through effective management and control of symptoms. However, improvements in levels of basic asthma care have stalled,²¹ with the management of childhood asthma found to be *'often sub-optimal'*.²² Only 26% of children aged 0-15 with asthma are deemed to have 'controlled asthma'.²³ We should note here that new data from the National Asthma and COPD Audit Programme is due in Spring 2021 and will be helpful in adding to our understanding of the current state of asthma care.

The impact of the Covid-19 pandemic

Whilst the full impact of the pandemic on children and young people's asthma care remains unclear at the time of writing, a limited amount of evidence has emerged in recent months.

Early evidence does not suggest that children and young people with asthma are more susceptible to Covid-19 infection than others of their age, although they may be more likely to require an intensive care admission if they contract Covid-19.²⁴

Presentations at emergency departments from children and young people with asthma symptoms fell during the initial lockdown.²⁵ The reasons for this remain unclear, with suggested explanations including a reduction in other respiratory viruses; improved protection from pollution, viruses and allergens from mask wearing; improved treatment compliance due to spending more time with caregivers; a reduction in outdoor pollution as well as fear of contracting Covid-19 when in hospital.

Conversely, there are several factors at play that could increase the risk of poor asthma control. There has been an understandable reluctance on the part of many families to attend hospital and GP services during the pandemic, whilst the switch to more remote delivery and telemedicine has created additional challenges for the assessment of asthma symptoms and access to healthcare. Some young people from marginalised groups have reported particular challenges accessing remote healthcare services during lockdown due to being digitally excluded, highlighting the impact of the pandemic in widening health inequalities.²⁶ Those living in poor housing may also experience greater exposure to indoor allergens, second-hand smoke and mould.

Children, young people and families' experiences of chronic asthma management and care Evidence from existing research, January 2021

Nadia et al (2020) explored the psychological and emotional impact of the pandemic on children and young people aged 4-18 under the care of an asthma clinic serving South London and South East England. Many children and young people reported increased levels of irritability, anxiety, and difficulties with concentration and sleeping, although only a minority felt that concerns regarding Covid-19 had influenced their asthma symptoms. Most parents were worried about access to healthcare services if their child had an asthma attack during the pandemic.²⁷

3.2 Experiences of NHS asthma care

Experiences of asthma care in GP surgeries

With most asthma care provided in primary care,²⁸ understanding children and young people's experiences of asthma care in GP surgeries is critical. The key role of GPs includes: early identification; accurate diagnosis; prescribing appropriate medication and devices; provision of an asthma care plan (e.g. a Personalised Asthma Action Plan); undertaking regular asthma reviews; making timely referrals to specialists; and providing information and advice to enable the patient to self-manage their condition.

Health service data indicate that asthma in children and young people remains poorly diagnosed²⁹ and that many people with asthma are not on GP registers.³⁰ NHS England state that less than 25% of children with asthma have a Personalised Asthma Action Plan.³¹ The National Review of Asthma Deaths (2014) found evidence of excessive prescribing of reliever medication and under-prescribing of preventer medication, and that there was no evidence that an asthma review had taken place in general practice in the last year before death for 43% of people (of all ages) who died.³² Asthma UK have reported that the most common reason given by young adults for not attending a review was that they did not receive a reminder that their review was due.³³ This situation is compounded for families from the most excluded groups with no fixed address or ID where registration to primary healthcare is refused.

RCPCH &Us Voice Bank (2018-2020) provides rich qualitative data regarding the experiences of children, young people (aged 0-25 years from a variety of ethnic backgrounds) and their parents/carers when accessing asthma care in GP surgeries, including their views on how care could be improved.³⁴ Children and young people said they wanted:

- Specialist GPs or asthma nurses who know a lot about childhood asthma. Many children and young people reported poor experiences with GPs who lacked expertise in childhood asthma. They tended to have more confidence in specialist asthma nurses.
- A care plan that is written down and ensures consistency with medication dosage, so that young people have more control over their illness and their plan.
- Quicker referrals to specialist asthma clinics and consultants.

- Accessible appointments. They wanted to be seen quickly and to have more time with their GP so they could build a relationship.
- Better communication. They wanted to understand what was being said to them and to be given a choice of options, but sometimes felt GPs talked rather than listened to them. They also mentioned letters getting lost and a lack of communication between the GP and the hospital.
- Greater consistency in doctors and in diagnosis.
- Information and education, so they can understand how to look after themselves.

Parents and carers participating in RCPCH &Us Voice Bank (2018-2020) engagement work echoed many of their children's concerns and priorities, but, reflecting their different perspectives and expectations, also highlighted difficulties and delays in obtaining a formal diagnosis. Experiences included being told they could not get a diagnosis of asthma before the age of 5;³⁵ getting different diagnoses from different doctors; and having to push for a referral to a specialist. (See Box 3 for quotes from parents and carers.)

Separate engagement work carried out by Healthwatch Blackburn with Darwen (2019) with 85 young people aged 0-18 and their parents/carers found that young people with complex needs wanted their GPs to provide them with a visual of how to manage their inhaler that they could keep referring to at home; and that parents also wanted more information for themselves.³⁶

Parents' and carers' views on GP care

'One doctor [in] our practice has a clue about asthma in children. The rest have limited knowledge about asthma. All GPs should have an asthma children's nurse practitioner. It's a really scary thing and they need to know about it.'

'Awareness needs to improve – the health service needs to understand more about asthma, they just give you an inhaler for everything and we didn't know what we were taking it for.'

'We have been sent away on several occasions saying chest is clear and that evening ended up in [hospital] following an attack.'

'If our GP is away – I found it a nightmare for anyone to listen to me – even the head of the practice! I need it written down by the doctor how they usually present when in an attack so this can be passed on from person to person otherwise they look at me as if I have two heads.'

'Support isn't good, prescriptions still take 3 days even if emergency, this should not be the case with inhalers.'

Source: RCPCH &Us Voice Bank (2018-20)

Experiences of emergency asthma care

Effective routine care in GP surgeries and self-management is sufficient in many cases to control children and young people's asthma. An acute asthma exacerbation requiring emergency hospital admission is a serious outcome and requires urgent care informed by a clear care / asthma action plan. Whilst emergency hospital admissions for asthma are falling,³⁷ there is evidence of variation in the quality of emergency care. An audit of asthma care in adults and children by the Royal College of Emergency Medicine (2017) found that only a minority of patients received vital assessments or potentially life-saving treatments in an acceptable timeframe, whilst discharge advice and follow-up was often inadequate.³⁸ This is concerning, as The National Review of Asthma Deaths found that 10% of asthma deaths (across all age groups) occurred within four weeks of hospital discharge following treatment for an acute attack.³⁹

The most in-depth source of qualitative data on the experiences of children, young people and parents/carers when they had accessed emergency care is RCPCH &Us Voice Bank's (2018-2020) engagement work in asthma clinics.⁴⁰ Some children and young people described their experiences as 'scary' or 'frightening', but most had very positive views of the quality of care they received, reporting 'quick', 'friendly' and 'excellent' service. They identified three clear priorities for emergency treatment:

- They want to receive medication immediately on arrival, with their care plan made available to staff so that they get the right dosage.
- They want to see an asthma specialist on a ward immediately.
- They want to know what's going on, who is helping them and how the treatment is helping.

Parents and carers interviewed by RCPCH &Us Voice Bank (2018-2020) and Healthwatch Blackburn with Darwen (2019) generally shared their children's positive experiences, but referred to some problems on visits to A&E. These included long waits for ambulances; the absence of an asthma specialist on arrival; poor communication between GPs, hospitals and specialists;⁴¹ and lack of follow up to ensure correct medication.⁴²

Experiences of care at specialist asthma services

NICE guidelines state that patients with severe or uncontrolled asthma must be referred to a specialist asthma service where they can benefit from the full range of asthma tests and be assessed for specialist treatments tailored to their specific type of asthma.⁴³ Some specialist asthma services operate within specialist children's hospitals, but only a very small percentage of people with asthma currently access ongoing care at a specialist asthma centre.⁴⁴

Children, young people and families' experiences of chronic asthma management and care Evidence from existing research, January 2021

The main source of evidence on the experiences of those children and young people who do manage to access specialist asthma services again comes from RCPCH &Us Voice Bank (2018-2020). Children and young people interviewed in tertiary services (specialist children's hospital clinics) reported extremely positive views of the service, which contrasted with their less positive experiences of care received in primary care and in District General Hospitals. They described receiving excellent care from staff who were 'more switched on', listened to them, built a relationship with them, understood the care they needed and gave them the right information. They described getting everything they needed through a holistic approach, which included undergoing tests; getting their plan sorted; receiving regular check-up calls; and being given important information leaflets. As a result, children and young people felt happier. The main drawback cited was the distance from home of the clinic location, sometimes requiring inconvenient travel and time away from school or work. Children and young people's top priorities included reiterating the importance of a care plan to support consistency with medication and save delay at GPs and A&E; seeing the same consultant; and having more local clinics or mobile clinics.⁴⁵

3.3 Social aspects of management and care

The extent of children and young people's need for and use of NHS care is determined, to a large extent, by how effectively their chronic condition is managed and controlled on a dayto-day basis at home, at school and in the community. This section considers relevant social aspects of asthma management and care, including children and young people's experiences at school and the impact of factors such as stigma, exclusion, knowledge, awareness, perceptions and attitudes on how they view and self-manage their condition.

Experiences of asthma care and management at school

A number of studies identify schools as an important setting for the delivery of NHS asthma care. For example, a randomised controlled trial found that asthma clinics held in secondary schools increased clinic attendance and uptake of asthma reviews amongst adolescents.⁴⁶ Szefler et al's (2020) worldwide charter for children with asthma identifies school nurses as having a key role in identifying undiagnosed asthma, making referrals to GPs and asthma specialists and providing ongoing support to pupils.⁴⁷ More broadly, schools have a legal duty under the 2010 Children, Schools and Families Act and the Children and Families Act 2014 to look after children with medical conditions, including asthma. Providing appropriate asthma care and support at school is necessary for children and young people may be fully independent with their condition, younger children, children and young people with learning difficulties or those newly diagnosed are likely to need support and assistance from school staff during the school day, to help them to manage their asthma.

Data from RCPCH &Us Voice Bank (2018-2020) indicate that whilst some children, young people and parents/carers praised schools as being very understanding and supportive,

others reported that a lack of understanding of asthma amongst school staff left children and young people feeling unsafe and unable to access medication when they needed it.⁴⁸ Engagement work conducted by Healthwatch Blackburn with Darwen (2019) found that only a minority of children and young people had easy access to their medication at school, whilst the majority of parents/carers were unaware who was the lead person within the school regarding their child's asthma.⁴⁹ Similarly, Jago at al (2017) found that both children and parents reported limited access to their inhaler at school and described having to go to the school office to receive medication. Many parents cited school policies, which stated inhalers should be kept in the school office rather than with the child, as a barrier to the child engaging in physical activity.⁵⁰

Children and young people reported to RCPCH &Us Voice Bank (2018-2020) that they needed more help at school to feel safe and supported with their asthma care. In particular, they wanted: ⁵¹

- school staff and their peers to understand the seriousness of the condition and its impact on their health and energy levels;
- staff to acknowledge that they are self-managing their condition and support them to do so;
- to be supported to participate in school trips and physical education;
- a dedicated person at the school to support them;⁵²
- a care plan to be in place at school, with the hospital in touch with the school about it.

'I have three children, two of which have asthma. During the winter months they struggle with their breathing more so than during the rest of the year. They have both been off school a considerable amount of time when they are unwell. Both on different occasions have been admitted to the hospital several times with 2-3 day stays due to their asthma not being in control. I had shared their personalised action plans with the school with one of the key points on the plan was to ring an ambulance if they are wheezing or struggling to breathe before they try to get in touch with me. Instead they continuously tried to contact me (I was at work) before they did anything about it. By the time I got to the school and took him to the hospital, a health professional at the hospital had told me if it took any longer to get treatment the outcome could have been very different.' Parent (Source: Healthwatch Blackburn with Darwen, 2019)

'I struggle with my breathing when I am exercising. PE lessons give me anxiety as I am worried if I start breathing loudly or wheezing. It's embarrassing for me to tell the teacher in front of the whole class.'

14 year-old (Source: Blackburn with Darwen Healthwatch, 2019)

Self-management

Asthma in children and young people can usually be well managed using preventative medication⁵³. However, research by Harris et al (2017) with young people in London secondary schools found that almost half had poor control of their symptoms, most often due to a lack of understanding of the condition, over-estimation of control and/or poor adherence to medication.⁵⁴ The National Review of Asthma Deaths (2014) emphasised the vital importance of improving patients' self-management in order to improve outcomes,⁵⁵ and several studies have concluded that better ways must be found to educate and empower young people with asthma to take control of their condition.⁵⁶

Key elements of self-management of chronic asthma have been identified as:

- understanding one's condition and personal triggers;
- knowing what to do to stay well;
- knowing how, why and when to take asthma medications correctly;
- recognising when asthma is not controlled and what to do when experiencing symptoms;
- knowing when and how to seek emergency advice;⁵⁷
- having a positive attitude⁵⁸ and the confidence to deal with both the medical and emotional management of the condition.⁵⁹

Age-appropriate approaches that foster adolescents' self-efficacy are widely considered to be most likely to succeed.⁶⁰ The evidence shows that high quality educational interventions can result in an improvement in adherence to therapy and in most asthma outcomes.⁶¹ This may include short, simple, well-designed programmes providing key information on asthma management, an easy to understand co-produced action plan, and inhaler technique training;⁶² and peer-to-peer schemes within schools that complement the role of school nurses.⁶³

Designing effective approaches aimed at improving self-management requires a comprehensive understanding of young people's current capabilities and the wider social influences that impinge on self-management.

Knowledge, awareness, perceptions, attitudes and assessment of capabilities

The literature frequently refers to young people and their parents perceiving themselves as more capable and effective in managing their asthma than health professionals believe them to be.⁶⁴ Whilst some earlier studies come across as somewhat judgemental on this topic, increasingly, there is a recognition of the need to better understand the views, experiences and attitudes and beliefs of children, young people and families.

Several studies have remarked that children and young people tend to normalise asthma by minimising the significance of the condition. A study by Monaghan and Gabe (2015), based

on interviews with children and young people aged between 5 and 17 in south-west Ireland, including young people from the Irish Traveller community, found that young people overwhelmingly defined their asthma as an unremarkable condition, even when their parents described it as 'really bad'. Whilst younger children sometimes conveyed a sense of pride in their ability to manage their condition, older young people were more likely to dismiss their asthma as boring.⁶⁵

Searle et al (2017) identified an apparent non-alignment between young people's and parents' tendency to normalise the condition, and to manage asthma as an intermittent acute illness rather than one that requires preventative medication, and professionals' adoption of a 'biomedical' model in which asthma is seen as an acute and chronic disease.⁶⁶ Such perceptions amongst young people and parents are highly significant, as they can directly lead to underestimation of the severity of the condition, overestimation of asthma control and poor adherence to treatment.⁶⁷

Interestingly, the evidence from qualitative studies indicates relatively high levels of responsibility and willingness to take medication amongst younger children,⁶⁸ but this has been noted to reduce during adolescence when adherence to treatment may be perceived as embarrassing, a chore or conflicting with other activities.⁶⁹ Teenagers are also less likely to attend appointments.⁷⁰ Boys may be more willing to tolerate asthmatic symptoms than girls, but less willing to take prescribed medications, particularly in public settings.⁷¹ This points to the need for different approaches to care and management for young people in response to their life stage and developmental needs.

'Would you like to get tips and advice to help keep your asthma under control?'

'It would be helpful to know the different types of asthma you can get and if you control them all the same. Would also be good to know some breathing techniques to help strengthen your lungs.'

'Especially how to deal with asthma whilst in school and doing sports'

'I would like some information on how to keep it under control'

'It would be helpful to know if you're having severe, moderate or mild asthmatic needs and how to treat those needs in a clear detailed plan'

'How to help control/prevent my asthma before exercise and during the winter when I can sometimes struggle in the cold weather.'

Young people (Source: RCPCH &Us Voice Bank, 2018-2020)

Stigma, identity and exclusion

Research has identified a number of social impacts of asthma on children and young people that also act as barriers to the successful management of the condition, including social stigma; embarrassment; restricted social lives; and frustration that others do not understand their condition.

Jago et al (2017) found there was significant social stigma attached to using inhalers at school. Younger children (aged 6-7 years) reported being reluctant to ask for their inhaler in front of peers because they were worried about standing out and feeling different.⁷² Similarly, Harris et al (2017) surveyed 689 London schoolchildren aged 11 to 18, 42% of whom reported feeling uncomfortable using their inhalers at school.⁷³

In an earlier qualitative study using conversational style interviews with 25 young people aged nine to 16 years and their parents/carers in Manchester by Callery et al (2003), young people emphasised the extent to which they appeared different to their peers.⁷⁴ Similarly, in-depth interviews with 55 young people aged 11-16 living in West London found that asthma restricted their lives at school and recreationally and that social relations help to determine the extent to which asthma episodes can be managed.⁷⁵ It is important to view this evidence in relation to children and young people's developmental life stage and the unique pressures they face.

Asthma UK (2009) reported that children and young people were often unable to fully take part in school life because of school absences, a lack of understanding and support from teachers and 'being singled out as being different to their classmates.'⁷⁶ Searle et al (2017) found that children did not like to miss school as it disrupted their learning and affected them socially, sometimes leading to disengagement from others.⁷⁷ Similarly, children and young people participating in RCPCH &Us Voice Bank's (2018-2020) engagement said that missing school left them feeling excluded and alone and made it hard for them to make friends.⁷⁸ Meanwhile, De Simoni et al (2017) found that young people and young adults often talked about feelings of embarrassment about their asthma diagnosis and taking inhaler treatment in public, which could lead to derision and exclusion from social activities.⁷⁹

Social impacts such as these, in turn, can affect children and young people's self-image and social identity. For example, a mother of an 11 year-old interviewed by a youth worker for RCPCH &Us Voice Bank (2018-2020) in an asthma outpatient clinic said: *'He sees himself as a sickly child'*.⁸⁰ Similarly, a child interviewed by Swansea University (2020, unpublished) in ongoing research described their asthma diagnosis as *'a life sentence of not being able to breathe properly'*.⁸¹ Iley (2010), in reviewing the evidence on the impact of asthma on the everyday lives of children, found there were gender differences in how children view their own health and deal with illness, citing evidence that girls were more likely to incorporate their chronic illness into their social identities and to curtail aspects of their lives such as

sport. Boys, by contrast, were less likely to accept that their asthma was part of their male identity and were more likely to minimise the impact of the illness, seeing it as a stigmatising condition.⁸² The RCPCH State of Child Health (2020) also highlights the importance of mental health input to support asthma care⁸³.

3.4 The impact of inequality

Variations in asthma incidence and care

Social and economic differences have been found to be a major cause of health inequalities amongst young people.⁸⁴ There is evidence that asthma is more prevalent in more deprived communities,⁸⁵ with incidence higher in the north than the south.⁸⁶ In one study, whilst area deprivation was strongly associated with diagnosed asthma in boys, this was not found to be the case in girls.⁸⁷ However, emergency hospital admissions for children and young people with asthma demonstrate a clear relationship with socio-economic factors,⁸⁸ with those from the most deprived areas of the UK being almost twice as likely to be admitted as those from the least deprived areas.⁸⁹

Young people in deprived areas are also more likely to be exposed to environmental factors that can act as asthma triggers. For example, they are more likely to smoke,⁹⁰ be exposed to higher levels of second-hand smoke and environmental pollution,⁹¹ live in poor quality housing (with exposure to mould), have poor diets and be obese.⁹² For example, poor air quality is an issue which particularly affects Gypsy and Traveller communities due the location of sites next to motorways and in areas with poor air quality ⁹³. Further, Asthma UK (2020) have reported significant variation in the quality of basic asthma care received depending on socio-economic group, with lower income groups less likely to be asked about their symptoms, to have their inhaler usage assessed or to have their adherence to their preventer inhaler discussed at their asthma reviews.⁹⁴

Young adults are the age group most likely to be diagnosed with asthma,⁹⁵ but are the least well-served by asthma services. Asthma UK's analysis of their Annual Asthma Survey focussed in 2018 on responses from young adults aged 18-29 years. They found that two thirds of this age group were not receiving basic asthma care; 88% had uncontrolled asthma; they were more likely than other age groups to have had an asthma attack in the last 12 months and to be admitted to hospital due to their asthma; and they had poor levels of adherence to medication.⁹⁶

There are also notable differences by ethnic group. There are significantly higher rates of asthma incidence in black and minority ethnic (BAME) groups in England and Wales, with high rates reported among second and third generation descendants of South Asian and African Caribbean migrants⁹⁷ and Irish children living in England.⁹⁸

Given these stark inequalities, it is vital to understand the experiences of these marginalised sub-groups if care is to be improved and targeted.

Differential experiences of asthma care and management amongst marginalised groups

As part of our review, we searched for studies exploring the specific experiences of groups that are marginalised (including, for example, young adults, young people from BAME communities and young carers), but found a dearth of recent research from the UK.

The notable exception is the comprehensive Management and Interventions for Asthma (MIA) study (Lakhanpaul et al, 2014-20), which has explored the experiences of British South Asian families. As part of a wider study to identify barriers to optimal asthma management and to inform culturally appropriate interventions to improve management, semi-structured interviews were conducted with children aged 5-12 years,⁹⁹ parents, carers and family members¹⁰⁰ from both South Asian and, for comparison, White British backgrounds. Interviews revealed considerable similarities in the experience of asthma between the South Asian and White British families, including limited understanding of asthma causes and triggers; confusion about the use of medications; uncoordinated care; lack of holistic discussions with healthcare professionals; and delays in receiving a clear diagnosis. No family had received an asthma plan. However, there were differences in experiences too, as South Asian families reported higher levels of stigma than White British families, had more difficulty in recognising severity of symptoms, and those with limited English faced additional barriers to receiving adequate information and advice about management due to poor communication support systems. South Asian children were more likely than White British children to feel embarrassed and to attribute physical activity as a trigger for asthma symptoms.

The MIA study points to a clear need to listen more systematically to the views, experiences and beliefs of marginalised communities in order to design tailored interventions that will be both effective and trusted. This would align with our broader understanding of the barriers socially excluded communities face accessing healthcare services, such as digital exclusion and low health literacy and highlights the importance of increased understanding in this area.

4. Conclusion

Our review found a reasonable body of qualitative research in the field of children and young people's asthma care, from which some clear themes emerge. Children and young people's most positive experiences of NHS care are when they obtain easy and quick access to specialist doctors and nurses who understand them, can communicate in terms they understand and can provide coordinated, developmentally-appropriate care. They want a clear, written action plan that is available to everyone who is caring for them and clarifies their medication dosage. And they want more information, advice and support so they can

better manage their condition themselves. Variations in care are preventing those most in need of services from receiving the high quality care they need, whilst a range of social factors can act as barriers to effective self-management.

It is hoped that these clear messages can help inform the co-development of more childand young person-centred treatment pathways, models of care and self-management approaches that are based on a thorough understanding of children and young people's particular developmental life stage, preferences, thinking and behaviour.

However, this review has identified some significant gaps in our knowledge. We note that much of the published qualitative research has been conducted with children and young people of school age, sometimes alongside both their parents, whose views often differ from or influence the views of their children, and also the clinicians who are caring for them. It is important that we hear from children, young people, parents and professionals separately in future studies and research.

In particular, there has been a general lack of recent participatory research focussed on eliciting the views and experiences of older adolescents and young adults as independent users of healthcare services. Issues relating to effective transition from child to adult services as well as additional barriers to self-management such as the cost of prescriptions have been raised by older young people and need consideration. There is also a dearth of evidence on the specific views and experiences of young people from different marginalised groups. This includes a lack of evidence relating to diverse range of minority ethnic children, young people and families including for example African, Caribbean and Gyspy, Roma, Traveller communities.

Greater collaboration in future research initiatives between health academics and colleagues from youth work and social science disciplines would be valuable in order to understand the influence of a range of social determinants of poor asthma outcomes in children and young people.

About the organisations undertaking this work



The Young People's Health Partnership, led by the Association for Young People's Health, is a consortium of six national youth and young people's health charities working to represent the interests of young people and young adults aged 10 - 25. We focus specifically on young people facing health inequalities.



avph Association for Young People's

Friends, Families and Travellers works on behalf of all groups of Gypsies, Roma and Travellers regardless of ethnicity, nationality, culture or background. We have strong roots in Gypsy, Roma and Traveller communities of all ages.



The Race Equality Foundation seeks to explore discrimination and disadvantage, and use that knowledge to help overcome barriers and promote race equality in health, housing and social care.



The Royal College of Paediatrics and Child Health/RCPCH &Us is the voice of children, young people, parents and carers for the college, created to actively seek and share their views to influence and shape policy and practice.



VCSE Health and Wellbeing Alliance is a partnership between voluntary sectors and the health and care system to provide a voice and improve the health and wellbeing for all communities. This work has been funded via the Health and Wellbeing Alliance.

References

³ See, e.g., Royal College of Paediatrics and Child Health, Royal College of General Practitioners and Royal College of Nursing (2015) *Facing the Future: Standards for acute general paediatric services (Revised 2015);* Szefler S, Fitzgerald D, Adachi Y et al. (2020) A worldwide charter for all children with asthma. *Pediatric Pulmonology*. 2020; 55: 1282–1292; Global initiative for asthma (2020) op. cit.

¹ See, Healthy London Partnership (2016) *London asthma standards for children and young people* <u>https://www.healthylondon.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/11/London-asthma-standards-for-children-and-young-people.pdf</u>

² See, e.g., Monaghan, L and Gabe J (2015) Chronic illness as biographical contingency? Young people's experiences of asthma. *Sociol Health Illn*, 37: 1236-1253; and Iley K (2010) Asthma and its impact on the everyday lives of children, *Journal of Family Health* blog 29 November 2010;

⁴ See, e.g., NHS England and NHS Improvement (2019) *Long Term Plan*: Healthy London Partnership (2020) *London asthma standards for children and young people: Driving consistency in outcomes for children and young people across the capital* (revised August 2020).

⁵ World Health Organisation (1999) *Programming for adolescent health and development: Report of a WHO/UNFPA/UNICEF study group*.

⁶ Global initiative for asthma (2020) op. cit.

⁷ RCPCH &Us Voice Bank (2018-2020) results from consultation with 108 children young people and parent /carers. Contact and us@rcpch.ac.uk for further information.

⁸ Asthma UK, Asthma Facts and Statistics <u>https://www.asthma.org.uk/about/media/facts-and-statistics/</u> [accessed December 2020]

⁹ NHS England website <u>https://www.england.nhs.uk/childhood-asthma/</u> [accessed December 2020] ¹⁰ Shah R, Hagell A and Cheung R (2019) *International comparisons of health and wellbeing in adolescence and early adulthood*. London: Nuffield Trust.

¹¹ Hagell A and Shah R (2019) *Key Data On Young People 2019,* London: The Association for Young People's Health.

¹² Iacobucci G (2019) Asthma deaths rise 33% in past decade in England and Wales *BMJ 2019*; 366:I5108.

¹³ Levy M, Andrews R, Buckingham R, Evans H, Francis C, Houston R, et al. (2014) *Confidential Enquiry report.*

Why asthma still kills: The National Review of Asthma Deaths. London: Royal College of Physicians. ¹⁴ <u>Asthma – RCPCH – State of Child Health</u>

¹⁵ Sharrad K, Sanwo O, Carson-Chahhoud K, Pike K (2019) Psychological interventions for asthma in children and adolescents. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2019, Issue 9. Art. No.: CD013420.

¹⁶ Global initiative for asthma (2020) *Global Strategy for Asthma Management and Prevention*.

¹⁷ Newacheck P and Halfon N (2000) Prevalence, impact and trends in childhood disability due to asthma. *Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med* 2000;154:287-93

¹⁸ Global initiative for asthma (2020) op. cit..

¹⁹ Sears M, Greene J, Willan A, Wiecek E, Taylor D, Flannery E, et al. (2003) A longitudinal, population-based, cohort study of childhood asthma followed to adulthood. *N Engl J Med.* 2003; 349(15):1414-22.

²⁰ Weiser E (2007) The Prevalence of Anxiety Disorders Among Adults with Asthma: A Meta-Analytic Review. *Journal of Clinical Psychology in Medical Settings* 2007;14(4):297-307.

²¹ Asthma UK (2020) *The Great Asthma Divide: the annual asthma survey 2019*, London: Asthma UK ²² Searle A, Jago R, Henderson J et al. (2017) Children's, parents' and health professionals' views on the management of childhood asthma: a qualitative study. *npj Prim Care Resp Med* 27, 53.

²³ NHS Digital (2019) *Health Survey for England 2018: Asthma*.

²⁴ Creese H, Taylor-Robinson D, Saglani S and Saxena S (2020) Primary care of children and young people with asthma during the Covid-19 era. *British Journal of General Practice* 2020; 70 (700): 528-529.

²⁵ Roland D, Harwood R, Bishop N, et al. (2020) Children's emergency presentations during the Covid-19 pandemic. *Lancet Child Adolesc Health* 4, 8, e32–e33.

²⁶ Sachs J and Rigby E (2020) What challenges have young people who face inequalities experienced during the Covid-19 lockdown? Experiences of young people from LGBTQ+, Gypsy, Traveller and Roma and young carer communities. London: The Association for Young People's Health/The Young People's Health Partnership.
²⁷ Nadia A, Gupta A, Cook J, et al. Emotional impact of Covid-19 pandemic on children and parents with

problematic severe asthma. *Authorea*. August 11, 2020.

²⁸ Public Health England (2019) *The 2nd Atlas of variation in risk factors and healthcare for respiratory disease in England.*

²⁹ Lenney W, Bush A, Fitzgerald D on behalf of the GSK Paediatric Project Advisory Board and Committee, *et al* (2018) Improving the global diagnosis and management of asthma in children *Thorax* 2018; 73:662-669.
 ³⁰ PHE (2019) op. cit.

³¹ https://www.england.nhs.uk/childhood-asthma/

³² Levy et al (2014) op. cit.

³³ Asthma UK (2018) *The reality of asthma care in the UK: Annual Asthma Survey 2018 report*. London: Asthma UK.

³⁴ RCPCH &Us Voice Bank (unpublished) op. cit.

³⁵ The literature highlights that diagnosis is particularly challenging in the first 3 years of life. See, e.g., Lenney et al (2018) op. cit.

³⁶ Healthwatch Blackburn with Darwen (2019) *Asthma – Views of Children & Young People in Blackburn with Darwen.*

³⁷ The rate of emergency hospital admissions for asthma among children and young people aged under 19 in 2017/2018 was 174 in England, 165 in Wales and 157 in Scotland (all per 100,000 children and young people aged 0-18 years). Source: PHE (2019) op. cit.

³⁸ The Royal College of Emergency Medicine (2017) *Moderate & acute severe asthma clinical audit 2016/17 national report.*

³⁹ Levy et al (2014) op. cit.

⁴⁰ RCPCH &Us Voice Bank (unpublished) op. cit.

⁴¹ Ibid.

⁴² Healthwatch Blackburn with Darwen (2019) op. cit.

⁴³ NICE (2018) Asthma Quality Standard (QS25): Published 21 February 2013, Last updated: 20 September 2018.

⁴⁴ <u>https://www.asthma.org.uk/advice/nhs-care/specialist-asthma-care/asthma-care-specialist-centre/</u>

⁴⁵ RCPCH &Us Voice Bank (unpublished) op. cit.

⁴⁶ Salisbury C, Francis C, Rogers C, Parry K, Thomas H, Chadwick S and Turton P (2002) A randomised controlled trial of clinics in secondary schools for adolescents with asthma. *British Journal of General Practice* 2002; 52 (485): 988-996.

⁴⁷ See, e.g., Szefler et al (2020) op. cit.

⁴⁸ RCPCH &Us Voice Bank (unpublished) op. cit.

⁴⁹ Healthwatch Blackburn with Darwen (2019) op. cit.

⁵⁰ Jago R, Searle A, Henderson A et al (2017) Designing a physical activity intervention for children with asthma: a qualitative study of the views of healthcare professionals, parents and children with asthma *BMJ Open* 2017;7:e014020.

⁵¹ RCPCH &Us Voice Bank (unpublished) op. cit.

⁵² Interestingly, although several papers recommend an expansion in the number of school nurses, children and young people did not mention school nurses and just one parent referred to the absence of a school nurse.

⁵³ Royal College of Paediatrics and Child Health *State of Child Health*.

https://stateofchildhealth.rcpch.ac.uk/evidence/long-term-conditions/asthma/#page-section-11

⁵⁴ Harris et al (2017) op. cit.

⁵⁵ Levy et al (2014) op. cit.

⁵⁶ See, e.g., Harris et al (2017) op. cit.; Holley et al (2017); Cole S, Seale C, Griffiths C (2013) 'The blue one takes a battering' why do young adults with asthma overuse bronchodilator inhalers? A qualitative study. *BMJ Open* 2013;3:e002247.

57 Levy et al (2014) op. cit.

⁵⁸ Holley S, Morris R, Knibb R, Latter S, Liossi C, Mitchell F and Roberts G (2017) Barriers and facilitators to asthma self-management in adolescents: A systematic review of qualitative and quantitative studies. *Pediatr Pulmonol*. 52: 430-442.

⁵⁹ British Thoracic Society (2016) *British guideline on the management of asthma - A national clinical guideline*.
 ⁶⁰ Lenney et al (2018) op. cit.; Holley et al (2017);

⁶¹ Boulet, L (2015) Asthma education: an essential component in asthma management European Respiratory Journal 2015 46: 1262-1264.

⁶² Plaza V, Peiró M, Torrejón M, et al. A repeated short educational intervention improves asthma control and quality of life. *Eur Respir J* 2015; 46: 1298–1307.

⁶³ Coppel J, Gibson L, Chodhari R, Wilson R (2014) Methods and Benefits of Education in Pediatric Asthma. *Clinical Pulmonary Medicine*. November 2014 - Volume 21 - Issue 6 - p 275-281.

⁶⁴ See, e.g., Global initiative for asthma (2020) op. cit.; Ring N, Jepson R, Hoskins G, Wilson C, Pinnock H, Sheikh A and Wyke S (2011) Understanding what helps or hinders asthma action plan use: A systematic review and synthesis of the qualitative literature, *Patient Education and Counseling*, Volume 85, Issue 2, 2011.

⁶⁵ Monaghan and Gabe (2015) op. cit.

⁶⁶ Searle et al (2017) op. cit.

⁶⁷ Carroll W, Wildhaber J and Brand P (2012) Parent misperception of control in childhood/adolescent asthma: the Room to Breathe survey *European Respiratory Journal* Jan 2012, 39 (1) 90-96; 20

⁶⁸ See, e.g., Searle et al. (2017) op. cit.

⁶⁹ See, e.g., Edgecombe K, Latter S, Peters S, et al Health experiences of adolescents with uncontrolled severe asthma *Archives of Disease in Childhood* 2010;95:985-991.

⁷⁰ Lenney et al (2018) op. cit.

⁷¹ Iley K (2010) op. cit.

72 Ibid.

⁷³ Harris et al (2017) op. cit.

⁷⁴ Callery P & Milnes L & Verduyn C and Couriel J (2003) Qualitative study of young people's and parents' beliefs about childhood asthma. *British Journal of General Practice*. 53. 185-190.

⁷⁵ Gabe J, Bury M and Ramsay R (2002) Living with asthma: The experiences of young people at home and at school. *Social science & medicine* 55. 1619-33.

⁷⁶ Asthma UK (2009) *Missing out: A report by Asthma UK on the views and experiences of children and young people with asthma.* London: Asthma UK

⁷⁷ Searle et al (2017) op. cit.

⁷⁸ RCPCH &Us Voice Bank (unpublished) op. cit.

⁷⁹ De Simoni A, Horne R, Fleming L, et al (2017) What do adolescents with asthma really think about adherence to inhalers? Insights from a qualitative analysis of a UK online forum. BMJ Open 2017; 7:e015245.
 ⁸⁰ RCPCH &Us Voice Bank (unpublished) op. cit.

⁸¹ Swansea University engagement work 2020 (unpublished) - preliminary findings from ongoing research with children across the UK. Contact Kathryn Jordan, Swansea University, for further information.

⁸² Iley K (2010) op. cit.

⁸³ Royal College of Paediatrics and Child Health *State of Child Health.*

https://stateofchildhealth.rcpch.ac.uk/evidence/long-term-conditions/asthma/#page-section-12

⁸⁴ Shah et al (2019) op. cit.

⁸⁵ Gupta R, Mukherjee M, Sheikh A, Strachan D (2018) Persistent variations in national asthma mortality, hospital admissions and prevalence by socioeconomic status and region in England. Thorax. 2018;73:706-712.
 ⁸⁶ Asthma UK (2018) On the edge: How inequality affects people with asthma. London: Asthma UK.

⁸⁷ NHS Digital (2019) op. cit.

⁸⁸ NHS Digital (2018) *Health Survey for England, 2018*.

⁸⁹ Kossarova L, Cheung R, Hargreaves D, Keeble E (2017) Admissions of inequality: emergency hospital use for children and young people. London: Nuffield Trust. (Cited in Shah et al (2019) op. cit.)

⁹⁰ Hagell A and Shah R (2019) op. cit.

⁹¹ Williams M, Beevers S, Kitwiroon N et al (2018) 'Chapter 8: Impact of air

pollution scenarios on inequalities' in Williams et al (2018) *Public Health Air Pollution Impacts of Pathway Options to Meet the 2050 UK Climate Change Act Target: A modelling study.* NIHR Journals Library. ⁹² Asthma UK (2018) *On the edge* op. cit.

⁹³ Greenfields M and Brindley M, The Travellers Movement (2016) <u>Impact of insecure accommodation and the</u> <u>living environment on Gypsies' and Travellers' health (publishing.service.gov.uk)</u>

⁹⁴ Asthma UK (2020) op. cit.

⁹⁵ British Lung Foundation (2016) *Respiratory Health of the Nation*. London: British Lung Foundation.

⁹⁶ Asthma UK (2018) op. cit.

97 Asthma UK (2018) op. cit.

⁹⁸ Milton B, Whitehead M, Holland P, Hamilton V (2004) The social and economic consequences of childhood asthma across the lifecourse: a systematic review. *Child:Care,Health and Development* 2004; 30(6):711-728.
 ⁹⁹ Reported in: Lakhanpaul M, Culley L, Huq T, et al. Qualitative study to identify ethnicity-specific perceptions of and barriers to asthma management in South Asian and White British children with asthma. *BMJ Open* 2019;9:e024545.

¹⁰⁰ Reported in: Lakhanpaul, M., Culley, L., Robertson, N. et al. A qualitative study to identify parents' perceptions of and barriers to asthma management in children from South Asian and White British families. *BMC Pulm Med* 17, 126 (2017).